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DECISION

1. This is an appeal by Mr Robert Mullis and Robert Mullis Restoration Services Limited of 55 Berkeley Road, Wroughton, Swindon, SN4 9BN against a direction made by the Commissioners on 12 July 2002 under the provisions of paragraphs 1A and 2 of Schedule 1 to the Value Added Tax Act 1994 that Mr Mullis, together with Robert Mullis Restoration Services Limited, are to be treated as a single taxable person carrying on the business activities of rocking horse maker, restorer of old rocking horses, manufacturing and renovating old toys, and restoring furniture from 55 Berkeley Road, Wroughton, and registered for the purpose of VAT with effect from 1 August 2002.

2. The grounds of appeal were:  “The direction can only be issued where separation of a business is artificial.  The two businesses in question are operated separately in a normal commercial manner and for sound commercial reasons and without artificiality.”

3. The facts in this case can be derived partly from the visit report of Mr R W Nex, a Customs officer, who visited the Appellants’ premises on 6 June 2002, and partly from oral evidence given by Mrs Pauline Mullis, and partly from a statement made by Mr A D Robertson, Chartered Accountant, who represented the Appellants before us.  Insofar as Mr Robertson’s statement contains facts we accept them as accurate since he has been the Appellants’ accountant since 1 May 1989.

4. Mrs Pauline Mullis gave evidence for the Appellants.  She explained that different materials were used in the restoration of old rocking horses and in making new rocking horses.  For example, the glues used are different, as are the eyes and the horse hair.  The horse hair is imported from China.  In order to make a mane for a new rocking horse a deep groove is cut along the neck;  and the mane is made from horse hair.  The tail is also made from horse hair.  Saddles are made by a saddler who supplies leather for the purpose.

5. Restoration of a “used” rocking horse is quite different; for example, new eyes which would be used are quite different from the eyes which were used in old rocking horses.  They have to be painted on the back and fixed with Scottish glue.  The horse hair is also different; it has to be attached to the hide and softened and cut to make the mane and the tail.  This would not be done on a new horse.  Also, the leather for the new horse and the repaired horses come from a different supplier.  For a new horse, she would provide the leather herself to the saddler.  This leather is thicker than that used in old rocking horses.

6. For the restoration of old rocking horses, the wood required is minimal and it is used, for example, to make good joints on the legs.  The finisher is bought for that purpose. There is also a difference in the paint used.  For a new rocking horse, toy paint is used.  In restoring an old rocking horse the regulations do not require them to be “toy safe” and also a Swedish hard finish paint is used.  Further, different skills are used as between making new rocking horses and repairing old ones.  For restoration, the skills are much finer.  It tries to put things back as they would have been.  Mr Mullis attempts to keep the old paintwork, if possible.  Some are very “distressed”; for example little paint remains from the original.  Some have several layers of “household paint” which is not sealed so that Mr Mullis can remove the top layer, showing 80% - 90% of the original paintwork, and thus retaining the original value so far as possible.  This is a very different skill from making something new.  Further, the appearance of old and new rocking horses are quite different.  For example, modern rocking horses have fine carving, which the old ones do not.  The new horses have two types of saddle fixing, whereas the old ones were nailed on.

7. Mr Mullis’s workshop is full of equipment.  He allows subcontractors to take the horses to their own place of business.  One of them has his own workshop nearby.  No machinery is used for restoration.

8. Hand tools are used for restoration and Mr Mullis has owned them since he was 16.

9. There is no link, Mrs Mullis said, between the customers of the two businesses.  New horses and old restored horses are never the same.  The two businesses use separate stationery, with different colours and no logo when restoration is undertaken.  There are separate insurers.

10. Mrs Mullis confirmed that she has 20% of the shares in the company.

11. In response to questions from Mr Bettoney, Mrs Mullis said that the workshop is in a former prefabricated garage.  It has its own supply of electricity.  The workshop space is divided in two (we were provided with a plan).  Most of the horses which are to be restored are in the garage.  Others go to the prefabricated building for assessment and any work that has to be done is done in the workshop.  Some restoration may only need to be done at the saddler’s.

12. Mrs Mullis confirmed that using a limited company meant that no national insurance was payable by her but the family receive dividends.  Before the company was incorporated Mr Mullis did use some subcontractors, mainly for making saddles for new horses.  This is a completely separate trade.

13. Mr Bettoney asked Mrs Mullis what her husband was doing before the creation of the new company, and she said that he was manufacturing and restoring rocking horses, using subcontractors.  Mr Bettoney asked whether the business could have been expanded without the extra subcontractors.

14. Mr Bettoney called as a witness Mr Robert Nex who is based at the Oxford office of the Commissioners.  He is a member of the “Joint Shadow Economy Team”.  The word “joint” indicates that the team includes people from the Inland Revenue.  The team would tackle suspected avoidance.

15. Mr Nex visited 55 Berkeley Road, Wroughton on 6 June 2002, where he met both Mr Mullis and Mrs Mullis.

16. From information provided by the Inland Revenue, the turnover of Mr Mullis’s business as a sole proprietor was £47,066 for the year ended 30 April 1999, when the VAT limit for registration was £51,000.  As there was no registration Mr Nex sent an enquiry form which, on its return, showed that Mr Mullis was associated with Robert Mullis Restoration Services Limited.  Neither business was registered for VAT.  Mr Nex also obtained the figures for the turnover, both of Mr Mullis himself for the four years to 30 April 2002, and the limited company for the years to 30 July 2000 and 2001.

17. As the turnovers of the two businesses together exceeded the registration limits and there appeared to be “association”, artificial separation was suspected.  Mr Nex said the Commissioners relied on the Burrell case and he considered, therefore, whether the two entities acted “hand in glove”.

18. There were two skills, woodwork and restoration.  Was there any reason to put these two skills into separate businesses?  Mr Nex said he had no evidence on this.

19. Mr Bettoney asked Mr Nex what was needed to establish the requirement to register for VAT.  He said that before 1997 the Commissioners had to have a reason; now the effect is more important.  Until the formation of the Appellant company, the business was compact; when it was approaching the registration limit it was “converted” to another entity.  It split a compact supply into two separate supplies.  Turnover went up, so that the two together exceeded the registration limit.  Mr Nex accepted that he was looking at two legally separate businesses.  He believed that the necessary links, financial, organisational, and economic existed.  For VAT purposes he recommended a forward date for the direction to take effect.  On the financial side, it appeared that there was a single business in that all the assets were owned by Mr Mullis himself, e.g. the building and the workshop.  The limited company apparently made little profit.  It was Mr Mullis who runs two businesses.

20. The organisational links were quite strong.  The name was well-known.  The new company was set up with his name on it.  Mr Nex suggested that the name is worth a lot to the company.  Mrs Mullis keeps the books for both businesses.  There is the same accountant for both businesses and the bank accounts are at the same branch of Lloyds TSB Bank.  All these aspects go together.  It was all together before the limited company was incorporated.  It was an economic tie, as in the Burrell case [1997] STC 1413.

21. Mr Robertson asked Mr Nex what the fundamental thing was which he was looking for, assuming that the legislation and the Commissioners’ internal guidance was available.  Mr Nex said that there was no major factor in this case except that the formation of a separate entity had led to a loss of revenue.  Someone has to make a judgment.  Are the businesses linked financially and economically?  If so, is the separation “artificial”?
22. Mr Robertson asked whether Mr Nex accepted that there were separate skills in running the two businesses.  Were they independent, i.e. woodworking and restoration?  Mr Nex answered in the negative.  Mr Robertson then asked why it would be artificial for Mr Mullis to apply his separate skills to two separate businesses.  Mr Nex said that Mr Mullis could limit his turnover but Mr Robertson pointed out that traders want to maximise their profits.  Mr Robertson put it to Mr Nex that Mr Mullis had two separate skills, i.e. woodworking to make new rocking horses, and restoration of elderly rocking horses.  Mr Nex declined to accept this.  Mr Robertson also asked Mr Nex why it would be artificial for Mr Mullis to apply his separate skills to two separate businesses.  To include the new business in the turnover was not comparing like with like.  The limited company contains a business which was not there before.  Mr Nex suggested that there were not normal commercial relationships between the two businesses.  Mr Robertson responded by saying that the trading relationship was not relevant because all the profits of both businesses go to the Mullis family.  To this, Mr Nex replied by saying that there was one supply only and the separation was artificial.
23. Mr Robertson’s statement, which we accept as factual, is set out in Appendix 1
24. Mr Bettoney for the Commissioners referred to a number of Tribunal Decisions namely:
R J Burrell (t/a The Firm) [1997] STC 1413
D Y Sharples (Decision No 16234)
R Wallace (t/a Inn House) Decision No 17109)
D Triggett (Decision No 686)
and others.

He said the Commissioners’ point was that when combined the two businesses would reach the registration limit but separately they would not.

In the Burrell case the High Court said the Tribunal should examine the substance and reality of the businesses at arm’s length.  In that case, the Tribunal did not identify any arm’s length transactions between the two alleged businesses and were entitled to come to the decision they did, namely that there was only one business.
25. Mr Bettoney referred to the care taken in renovating a pink horse.  Mr Mullis does both new work and restoration work.  He accepted that the premises were shared by both businesses and the same tools were used.  Some charges were made between the two businesses for materials, but he accepted that the eyes used were separate.  A weighing exercise was required.
26. The hearing on 3 May 2003 was adjourned and at the resumption on 26 November 2003 Mr Robertson made closing submissions as set out in Appendix 2.
27. We accept all Mr Robertson’s submissions.  The appeal succeeds for the reasons set out by Mr Robertson and we need not repeat them.  The Commissioners must pay the Appellants’ reasonable costs of the appeal and if the amount cannot be agreed the parties may apply to the Tribunal for directions.
PETER H LAWSON

CHAIRMAN

RELEASED: 20 February 2004
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Appendix 1

History

1.  Robert Mullis commenced a trade in the making of rocking horses on 1 March 1988.  The initial Accountants were Ekins & Co of Swindon who prepared the first accounts for the period 1 March 1988 to 30 April 1989 after which A D Robertson FCA ATII was appointed and has acted from then to the present day.
2. Mr Mullis advised Ekins & Co that in addition to manufacturing rocking horses it was possible that there would be a small amount of restoration work which was technically a separate business activity.  He queried whether this separate activity should be dealt with in a separate set of accounting records and whether a separate profit and loss account should be prepared for income tax purposes.
3. Ekins & Co advised that if the income from the separate business was only a small incidental part of the total income the Inland Revenue would accept that it was not administratively practicable to prepare separate accounts and that the income from the restoration business could be included with the income from the manufacturing business.
4. Mr Robertson said that this approach would be adopted by many accountants for practical reasons and where the amounts are small and there is no significant overall effect on the tax liability the Revenue have not challenged the treatment where they have made detailed enquiry into those accounts.
5. ESC A37 shows that the Revenue permit director’s fees earned by a partner in a professional firm to be treated for tax purposes as part of the firm’s trading profit rather than as employment income of the partner concerned.
6. Para 502 of Revenue booklet IR150 shows that rent from letting surplus accommodation, which is income from a separate property business, may in specified circumstances be treated as income of the main trading business.
7. This explains why in the early years the income from restoration work was included in the financial accounts of the manufacturing business and it is submitted that such inclusion was carried out for economic and practical convenience and in no way suggests that restoration work has ever been anything other than a totally independent business activity.
8. In early 1999 a customer suggested to Mr Mullis that he was really operating two totally distinct business activities and that they should be formally distinguished by forming a limited company which could have other advantages such as tax and limited liability.
9. Mrs Mullis was diagnosed with cancer and Mr Mullis became concerned that he might not be able to devote anywhere near as much time to his work as he was then doing and might struggle to earn enough to support his wife and himself.  He decided to form a separate company with a view to expanding the restoration business by using subcontractors to carry out most of the work which would enable him to make a living even if he was obliged to reduce his manufacturing business significantly.
10. Mr Mullis consulted Mr Robertson on this matter.  The advice that was given was briefly as follows:
a. For income tax purposes an account should be prepared for each separate trading activity.  Restoration and repair is quite clearly a separate trading activity.  Whilst the income derived from this work is very small it can be regarded as incidental to the main activity and it is unlikely that the Inland Revenue would raise any objection where it has no bearing on the overall tax liability.  When the size of the business becomes significant and is no longer just incidental it becomes necessary to prepare separate accounts.
b. It was noted that the previous accountant had been asked about this when the manufacturing business started and he advised against preparing separate accounts and it is assumed that the reasons were similar to those in (a) above.  It should be borne in mind that combining the activities on the grounds that one was of insignificant size was simply a decision to keep matters simple and limit costs.  It was not an admission that manufacture and restoration constituted a single business.
c. Separate accounts would enable the profitability of each business to be monitored now that a decision had been taken to expand the restoration activity.
d. Limited liability would be useful in dealing in restoration of other people’s property which might be valuable such as antiques.
e. A limited company would enable Mrs Mullis to be given an interest in the business without imposing a cost burden such as a regular salary.  If profits were earned she would receive dividends

f. Small limited companies enjoy lower tax rates and there is no charge to national insurance if little or no salary is paid.

11. The reasons for forming the limited company are clearly set out above and had nothing to do with VAT.  The increasing turnover may have helped to trigger the action which was already being contemplated for other purposes.

12. Even if VAT registration had been a significant factor it would not itself render the separation of two distinct business activities artificial.  Its only effect would be on the timing of the decision to take the correct commercial action to separate the different activities formally and legally.

13. In fact there was no separation of business activities in this case at all because what really happened was that Robert Mullis ceased carrying out a small amount of restoration work that was merely incidental to his manufacturing business and then Mr and Mrs Mullis set up an entirely new business as a limited company to start a new trade of both rocking horse and general restoration work using outside subcontractors to do most of the work.

14. Under normal Inland Revenue guidelines this would never have been accepted as being the same trade as the insignificant amount of rocking horse repair work carried out solely by Mr Mullis in the past.

15. The importance of this point will become clear when we consider the legal provisions which permit the Commissioners to issue directions to register for VAT.

16. Robert Mullis Restoration Services Ltd (hereinafter referred to as RMRS Ltd) was incorporated on 28 July 1999 and contrary to the report by Mr Nex, the share capital was owned as to 80% by Mr R Mullis and 20% by Mrs P A Mullis.

17. The company is registered at Companies House under the business activity of “Repair not elsewhere classified”.  The company started trading on 1 August 1999 and prepared accounts up to 31 July 2000 and for the year ended 31 July 2001.  It has its own computerised nominal ledger and produces its own Trial Balance.  A copy of both these accounts has been submitted to the Inland Revenue together with corporation tax returns.

18. Robert Mullis, Rocking Horse Manufacturer prepares accounts annually up to 30 April.  The latest finalised accounts were those for the year ended 30 April 2000 which were submitted to the Inland Revenue together with the 2001 tax return.  It has its own computerised nominal ledger and produces its own Trial Balance.

19. Mr Robertson produced a copy of the self-employment pages on the 2001 income tax return.  The 2001 income tax return also included an employment page in respect of RMRS Ltd.  Mr Mullis made formal expense claims to RMRS Ltd which were returned as reimbursed expenses on form P11D and for which a claim under s.198 ICTA 1988 was made.  Mr Robertson produced an example of the expense claims submitted and an example of the mileage claims submitted in accordance with normal commercial practice.

20. On the 2001 tax return of R Mullis on page 5 there is a figure for dividends of £4,467.92 which includes £4,400 from RMRS Ltd.

21. A copy of the dividend vouchers issued by RMRS Ltd to Mr R Mullis and to Mrs P A Mullis for the year ended 31 July 2001 was also produced.

22. In 1988 the main income was derived from manufacture but as time went on Mr Mullis was asked to repair and restore horses to an increasing extent which made it inevitable that one day the businesses would need to be formally recognised as distinct and separate businesses.

23. The turnover for the year ended 30 April 1998 was £48,968 of which 24.3% related to repair and restoration work.

24. The turnover for the year ended 30 April 1999 was £47,067 of which 32.6% related to repair and restoration work, thus confirming this increasing trend.

25. It became clear to Mr Mullis that there was plenty of scope for taking on more restoration work and also for expanding the activity to cover articles other than rocking horses as well.

26. He could not expand the restoration business any further under the sole trader system being used without running down his manufacturing operation and he therefore formed the limited company and subcontracted out much of the restoration work to his cousin, Reg Mullis and another business called J & D Woods.

27. In the year to 30 April 1998 the subcontract work was primarily Saddlery and Engraving.  In the year ended 30 Apri9l 1999 the subcontract work account also included MJ & B Garland, Wood Turners but in reality these were the supply of stands and pillars which would have been more correctly shown under materials.  These schedules do not show any subcontracted restoration work.

28. In the accounts of Robert Mullis Restoration Services Ltd the subcontract work account in the years ended 31 July 2000 and 31 July 2001 show significant sums for subcontracted restoration work by Reg Mullis and J & D Woods which shows that there was a fundamental change in the manner of operating the restoration business by the limited company compared with the manner in which restoration work had been carried on by Mr Mullis personally in the past.

29. This shows conclusively that there was a genuine commercial reason for creating the limited company and that the business operated by it was significantly different to the business run previously by Mr Mullis.

30. It is hard to see any validity in the assertion by the Commissioners that there was any separation of business activities or that operating separate businesses of (a) manufacture and (b) restoration and repair was in any way artificial and carried out mainly for the purpose of avoiding registration for VAT.

31. Mr Robertson produced an extract from the British Toymakers Guild Directory 2002 which showed members that making rocking horses.  These names were entered on a list of main competitors together with 6 other main competitors who are not members of the Guild.

32. Following reasonable enquiry Mr Robertson concluded that out of 25 main competitors, only 5 are registered for VAT and as a result it is impossible to conclude that failing to register for VAT would give Robert Mullis an unfair competitive advantage.

33. Because of this, if he found that his turnover was approaching the threshold he would simply reduce his hours of work so as to remain competitive.  Up to now this has not been necessary because of the annual increase in the registration threshold.

34. The investigation by HM Customs & Excise
Having identified that two businesses were being operated from the same address and that one of them was close to the VAT registration threshold, the Commissioners sent a VAT Officer to investigate the position.

35. Notice was given that a direction to register under Paragraphs 1A and 2 of Schedule 1 VATA 1994 was issued on 12 July 2002.

36. The internal report of the VAT Officer was made available to us by the Commissioners but was found to contain numerous inaccuracies which obliged us to respond in detail.

37. The Commissioners responded to these comments by us in a letter dated 29 August 2002 and once again we found these points both inaccurate and illogical and issued a reply on 17 September 2002.

38. Despite having, in our view, successfully refuted the arguments and conclusions put forward by the Commissioners they refused to withdraw the direction to register.

39. The Law
The following paragraphs are contained in Schedule 1 of the Value Added Tax Act 1994:
”1A(1)  Paragraph 2 below is for the purpose of preventing the maintenance or creation of any artificial separation of business activities carried on by two or more persons from resulting in an avoidance of VAT.

1A(2)  In determining for the purposes of sub-paragraph 1 above whether any separation of business activities is artificial, regard shall be had to the extent to which the different persons carrying on those activities are closely bound to one another by financial, economic and organisational links.

40. 2(1)  Without prejudice to paragraph 1 above, if the Commissioners make a direction under this paragraph, the persons named in the direction shall be treated as a single taxable person carrying on the activities of a business described in the direction and that taxable person shall be liable to be registered under this Schedule with effect from the date of the direction or, if the direction so provides, from such later date as may be specified therein.

2(2)  The Commissioners shall not make a direction under this paragraph naming any person unless they are satisfied-
(a)  that he is making or has made taxable supplies; and
(b)  that the activities in the course of which he makes or made those taxable supplies form only part of certain activities, the other activities being carried on concurrently or previously (or both) by one or more other persons; and
(c)  that, if all the taxable supplies of the business described in the direction were taken into account, a person carrying on that business would at the time of the direction be liable to be registered by virtue of paragraph 1 above;”

41. (i)  Consideration of Paragraph 1A(1)
The purpose of the direction must be to prevent an avoidance of VAT.  It has already been established that if Mr and Mrs Mullis had not set up the new trading activity operated by RMRS Ltd and Mr Mullis had continued as a sole trader he would not have increased his turnover beyond the registration threshold.  The creation of the new activity did not therefore result in the avoidance of VAT.

42. Customs’ leaflet 700/61 also states that the prime reason for the legislation was to avoid unfair competition.  It is submitted that as the main competitors of Mr Mullis are small unregistered businesses there was no unfair competition and indeed this direction creates a competitive disadvantage for him.

43. Leaflet 700/61 also says that Customs will encourage Tribunals and Courts, when considering appeals, to test not only the legal technicalities but also whether the disaggregated business arrangements result in a VAT loss.  As explained earlier, the separation did not result in a VAT loss.

44. It is probable that if the direction is not overturned, Mr Mullis will simply reduce the combined turnover by working fewer hours or by reducing the use of subcontractors and will then deregister both businesses.  The effect of the direction would then be a reduction in UK economic activity and exports rather than any increase in yield for the Treasury.

45. The purpose of the direction must also be to prevent artificial separation of business activities.

46. Artificial means contrived, unnatural, fictitious.  In other words in order to fall within this requirement of artificiality, any separation of business activities must be contrived and unreal which means that they would not be operated separately by normal business owners where VAT registration is not an issue.

47. Whilst is will be possible for the Commissioners to find isolated examples of cases where a product maker also provides repair services, the simple fact is that in the vast majority of cases restoration and repair services are operated as separate businesses totally independent of the manufacturer of the product.  One only needs to examine all the goods contained in a typical household and to ask if you would take it back to the manufacturer if a repair was required to see that this separation is perfectly natural and normal in commercial life today.

48. Furthermore, a distinction must be made between repairs and restoration.  Although the limited company does carry out a small amount of repairs, most of the work involves restoration which is a specialist skill totally independent of the skill of manufacture.  An artist can paint a picture but he would not normally be able to restore a painting which had become damaged or was suffering from deterioration through old age.

49. We have already made the analogy with BMW to the Commissioners by stating that BMW manufacture the cars but do not repair them.  We would go further than this by stating that the BMW main dealer (who is not the maker of the cars) will repair cars but they will not restore an old 1948 BMW to original condition.  This work would normally be carried out by a highly specialised car restoration business.

50. We therefore conclude that operating the restoration business through a legally independent company is not an artificial division of activities because it constitutes normal commercial practice.  There are far more repair and restoration businesses which are operated independently of manufacturing than there are businesses which combine these activities.

51. (ii)  As evidence that manufacture is a totally separate business from restoration and repair Mr Robertson put forward the UK Standard Industrial Classification which shows a separate Group D for manufacturing and a Sub-Group DD 2051 which relates to manufacture of other products of wood.  It also shows Group G for wholesale, retail; certain repair under which item 5274 relates to repairs not elsewhere classified.

52. This classification, which is used by the Department of Trade and Industry and by HM Customs and Excise, is an official recognition that these activities are genuinely separate business activities and that operating them as such is normal commercial practice and is not artificial.

53. We are not claiming that it is impossible for a single business to operate more than one distinct commercial activity and to hold this out to the public as one business and we have no doubt that HM Customs and Excise can produce examples of this.

54. What we are claiming is that because these are recognised as distinctly separate commercial activities it cannot be regarded as artificial to operate them as independent businesses provided that there is a clear commercial intention to do so and they are properly constituted, operated and accounted for as separate businesses.

55. (iii)  Consideration of Paragraph 1A(2)
Whether a separation is artificial or not is a question of fact.  The law requires the Commissioners to have regard to the extent of the financial, economic and organisational links between the persons operating each activity when deciding whether or not the separation is artificial.

56. This does not, however, mean that in every case where there are strong links the separation can be deemed to be artificial.  It simply means that the account must be taken of these links when deciding whether or not a separation is artificial.  If a separation is clearly normal commercial practice it seems to us that the separation cannot be artificial however strong the links.

57. A husband and wife might jointly set up two limited companies which they operate from their home address.  One company offers business consultancy services and the other distributes household goods.  The links here are probably as strong as you could ever find but does this legislation make it possible for the Commissioners to argue that both activities should have been operated from one single company?

58. We do not believe so because as a matter of fact there is no artificiality whatsoever in operating them separately and the existence of strong links cannot be used to create artificiality where it clearly does not exist.

59. (iv)  Consideration of Paragraph 2(1)
As mentioned earlier, the Customs’ leaflet 700/61 expects Tribunals and Courts to test the legal technicalities.

60. Paragraph 2(1) requires the Commissioners to describe the business which is carrying on the relevant activities in the direction.

61. The direction that was issued by the Commissioners on 12 July 2002 appears to us not to comply with this legal requirement.

62. The direction names the persons involved and also refers to the “business activities (plural) of rocking horse maker, restorer of old rocking horses, manufacturing and renovating old toys and restoring furniture”.  It does not, however, describe the business which is the subject of the direction and by virtue of this the direction would seem to be invalid.

63. If the Commissioners are to apply these business splitting provisions they need to show that a single business has been separated artificially and the legislation therefore requires the Commissioners to identify specifically in the direction what the single business is.  They have identified separate commercial activities in this direction but they have not described the single business which they claim to have been separated for the very simple reason that there is no single business that they can describe and no separation has actually taken place.

64. We therefore submit that the direction may be invalid in law on this simple point alone.

65. Further consideration of legal principles arising from examination of Tribunal Decisions
(i)  We have reviewed VAT Tribunal Decision 17794 Mike Kiernan’s Beer Tent Co Ltd and The Commissioners of Customs and Excise.

66. This concerned an appeal against a direction under paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 1 to the VAT Act 1994.  Much of the argument in that case appears to have related to the question of whether the business activities carried on were in reality one business.

67. The direction and statement of case appear to have been based on the visit officer’s report and he concluded “the businesses in my view have been successfully separated and so the direction is not retrospective ... but the businesses are not really separate at all”.

This appears to us to be a contradiction.  If the businesses were not really separate and were in reality one business then paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 1 does not apply and retrospective registration is required.

68. The Tribunal considered it relevant to consider eight points listed in De Voil’s Indirect Taxation Service for the purpose of deciding whether there were truly separate businesses.  We cannot see why this was relevant because the Commissioners had already accepted that the businesses had been successfully separated and this was evidenced by a direction to register rather than retrospective registration.

69. (ii)  However, in case of doubt we submit that the first of those points is not relevant to the present case because Mr and Mrs Mullis do not charge rent to either of the businesses and the remaining seven points are fully satisfied.

70. (iii)  A second point that arises in that case is the contention by the Commissioners that paragraph 1A(1) of Schedule 1 covers the situation where a series of individual businesses was started up which were in reality parts of the same business.  We would submit that in those circumstances also retrospective registration should apply rather than the issue of a direction.

71. (iv)  A similar point was raised in VAT Tribunal 16547 Harry David Mitchell and the Commissioners of Customs and Excise where the Commissioners argued that it was not necessary for a single business to be separated because paragraph 1A of Schedule 1 referred not only to the creation of any artificial separation of business activities but also to the maintenance of such artificial separation.  The Tribunal concluded that a direction can be made in circumstances other than those in which an existing business is separated.

72. We do not consider that this properly sets out the legal principles involved.

73. A direction can only be issued where there is the maintenance or creation of any artificial separation of business activities.

74. The key requirement is that there must have been at some time a separation of business activities and the persons to whom the direction is issued must have either created or maintained that separation.

75. The primary current meaning of the word “separate” is to make separate, to sever, to disunite, to sort or divide into constituent parts and we contend that this is the meaning that must be attributed to that word when interpreting this legislation because there is nothing specific in the legislation to suggest otherwise.

76. The marital status of a man and woman can only be classified as separated if at some time they have previously been married.

77. A football referee who pulls two fighting players apart is said to have separated them whereas if he places his body between them to prevent them coming into contact with each other it would not be normal use of English to say that he has separated them – he is said to have kept them apart.  If he has pulled them apart and then places his body between them to keep them apart this act of keeping them apart does still fall within the overall meaning of separation.

78. We cannot accept, however, that current normal English usage of the word “separate” is to keep persons or things apart that have at no time been joined together.

79. The use of the phrase “maintenance of separated activities” merely permits the Commissioners to issue a direction to persons who did not themselves create the separation and does not remove the fundamental requirement that at some time there must have been a separation.

80. In the present case Mr Mullis ceased to carry on a small sideline of repair and restoration that was merely incidental to his business of manufacturing rocking horses.

81. RMRS Ltd was formed to set up a completely new business, not wholly owned by R Mullis, which specialised in restoration of articles including, but not exclusively, rocking horses and which mainly used the services of subcontractors to carry out the work.  This company’s activities result from the setting up of a new trade and not by way of separation of activities previously carried on by R Mullis.

82. (v)  This must be distinguished from the circumstances of the VAT Tribunal Case 16547 Harry David Mitchell and the Commissioners of Customs and Excise because in that case the appellant transferred the work of tax return preparation from his sole practice to a limited company owned by him and that part of the previous business was carried on in a virtually identical manner as before.  The Tribunal concluded that the business carried on by the limited company was of a type carried on by the firm.

83. Turning to VAT Tribunal Decision 17794 Mike Kiernan’s Beer Tent Co Ltd and the Commissioners of Customs and Excise, we note that the case report refers to Article 4.4 of the EC 6th Directive which provides that the UK may treat as a single taxable person, persons established in the territory of the country who, while legally independent, are closely bound to one another by financial, economic and organisational links.

84. It must be recognised that this only provides authority for paragraphs 1A and 2 of Schedule 1 to the VAT Act 1994 and is not itself UK law.

85. The interesting point here is that this directive only provides authority for the UK to issue a direction where those close links exist and otherwise it does not specify in what circumstances it should be applied.

86. The UK legislation restricts the application of these provisions to circumstances where there is artificial separation of business activities and does not make the existence of close links a formal condition (as it should do if it is to comply with the EC 6th Directive) but merely says that when deciding if the separation is artificial account must be taken of those links.  It is therefore conceivable that where separation is blatantly artificial in a case where there are no links or very weak links, a direction could still be issued under UK law even though this is not actually in accordance with EC law.

87. The relevance of this is, however, to show that in the UK the primary element to be established is the artificiality of separation and the closeness of the links are only matters of secondary importance which must, however, be taken into account.

88. It cannot be assumed as an automatic conclusion that just because strong links exist between two businesses the activities of those businesses have been separated artificially.  An individual has a fundamental human right to conduct business in whatever legal formal he chooses and with or without partners or other shareholders.

89. If two totally different types of business are carried on by separate legal entities and it would be normal commercial practice to operate them as separate businesses it is impossible to see how this could be regarded as artificial separation no matter how strong the links are between them.

90. Consideration of arguments put forward by the Commissioners of Customs and Excise
(i)  The conclusion of the VAT Officer in his internal report can be summarised as follows:
a)  There are two separate legal business entities which are properly constituted.
b)  Because financial, organisational and economic links are apparent, the issue of a direction is appropriate.

91. This conclusion is both illogical and invalid.  Despite the existence of some links there is an overriding obligation on the Commissioners to identify artificiality.  The report makes no attempt to comment on or establish artificiality and merely seeks to give a misleading impression that the links are stronger than is really the case.

92. The letter from HM Customs and Excise dated 29 August 2002 adds the further comments:

(ii)  “Financial links – there are no formal arrangements, regarding rent, bills etc. in place, this is not in line with normal “commercial business relations”.”

93. It is not absolutely clear what is being argued here.  The question of rent is mentioned but we are unable to trace any mention of this in the VAT Officer’s internal report document and it would appear that this document is not the full report made by him.

94. We can only guess that HM Customs and Excise are arguing that the situation is artificial because Mr and Mrs Mullis do not charge rent to either business.  We believe that the question of rent is of no relevance here at all.  If Mr Mullis was renting business premises for the manufacturing business and failed to charge rent to the limited company it might in some situations be a valid argument.  In this case it is necessary to bear in mind that the VAT Officer reported that 80% of the restoration work was carried out by subcontractors on their premises, so that usage of his own premises could possible be regarded as immaterial.

95. However, Mr and Mrs Mullis have never sought to charge rent to the sole trader business because it would not serve any useful purpose, would cause unwanted and unnecessary complications and could possible be unlawful as regards the 50% interest of Mr Mullis in the property on the grounds that he cannot charge rent to himself.  It is also submitted that it is not normal commercial practice for people to charge rent to businesses that they operate themselves from their homes.

96. The Commissioners appear to be trying to establish artificiality between the proprietors and the two businesses but the law requires them to establish artificiality in the separation of the business activities themselves which means an examination of whether proper commercial relations exist between the businesses in areas where there is a business relationship.

97. As regards rent, R Mullis sole trader does not own business property and does not incur any rent costs and therefore has no commercial reason whatsoever to invoice rent to the limited company which in any case has only very limited usage of the common premises.

98. Turning to the phrase “bills etc” we have to assume that the Commissioners are arguing that R Mullis sole trader should be invoicing the limited company for gas, electricity and telephone and that the present arrangements are not sufficiently formal and do not comply with normal commercial practice.

99. When the limited company started trading the following formal procedures were established:

(1)  As regards gas, it was noted that Mr Mullis had declined to claim any part of the house gas bill in the sole trader business on the grounds of immateriality because domestic use related to most of the gas charged.

(2)  The workshop has it own electricity supply.  Mr Mullis estimated that about 30% of the cost would relate to the restoration business.  It was therefore agreed between R Mullis and RMRS Ltd that charges for electricity would be shared between them in the ratio 70% to 30%.  The invoice for electricity would be paid by the manufacturing business and 70% of this would be debited in the accounts to the electricity account and 30% would be debited to a current account in the name of RMRS Ltd.

100. A copy of the invoice would be passed to RMRS Ltd and they would debit electricity charges in their accounts and credit a current account in the name of Robert Mullis Rocking Horse Maker.

The current account balance between the businesses would be settled by a payment when demanded.

101. (3)  The businesses do not have time to try to breakdown the telephone usage on any scientific basis.  It was estimated that the total of the fax bill would not be far different from a fair share of RMRS Ltd of the combined telephone and fax bills.  It was therefore agreed that RMRS Ltd would pay the fax bill and R Mullis sole trader would pay the telephone bill and allocate a relevant proportion of this to drawings to cover private use.

102. Mr Robertson submitted that significant charges paid for by one business and used by the other have been identified and recharged on a formally agreed basis in a normal commercial manner.  Invoicing is not the only way of dealing with such matters.  He also submitted that it is perfectly normal commercial practice not to waste time on trying to create a perfect allocation where the amounts involved are trivial.

103. He referred to the decision in Robert Wallace T/A Inn House and the Commissioners of Customs and Excise Decision No 17109, where the Tribunal stated that it should not expect relationships between husband and wife to be wholly at arm’s length or commercial.  He submitted that the same principle applies to relationships between an individual and a company controlled by him.

104. It should also be borne in mind, he said, that the two businesses are totally independent of each other and buy all their own supplies and do not trade with each other apart from the very occasional reinvoicing of materials of trivial amount.

105. The only financial link that exists is that of ownership and even here Mr Mullis only owns 80% of RMRS Ltd compared with 100% of his manufacturing business.

106. (iii)  Economic Links – The aim of both businesses is to make money from the Rocking Horse business.  The brochure inspected and the internet advertisement enclosed do not draw any distinction between the sole proprietorship and the Limited Company.  Potential customers would not be able to ascertain that there was anything other than one business in existence.”

107. There is no such thing as a “Rocking Horse Business”.  Once again I make the comparison with motor cars.  There is no such thing as a motor car business.  There is a motor manufacturer, a motor dealer (sales and repairs), a motor repairer (repairs only), and a motor car restorer.  These are different business categories connected with one manufactured product.  The same kind of distinction applies to Rocking Horses.

108. It has already been explained to the Commissioners that some of the current advertising arrangements (specifically excluding the business website) were set up well before the formation of the limited company.  Advertising is a very expensive business and it was a perfectly normal commercial decision of cost control not to rush out and redesign and reprint brochures especially when large stocks of the originals were still held.

109. The internal report by the VAT Officer attempts to draw a conclusion that the two businesses are advertised to the public as one business but the facts show that this is not the case.  Although in one place the report admits that the website does not cover restoration services it erroneously states that there is a common website.

110. The report also states erroneously that the businesses use a common logo.  The picture of a rocking horse that appears in each Yellow Pages advertisement is one that was inserted by Yell Ltd and is not the logo of either business.  The logo of the Rocking Horse Maker business is shown at the top of the price list.  RMRS Ltd does not have or use a logo at present.  This information was provided to the VAT Officer at the time of his visit but he chose to ignore it when preparing his report.  It was also mentioned in writing when the decision was being reconsidered and it is surprising to find that it continued to be used as an argument in the Statement of Case.

It should also be noted that the price list makes no mention of restoration services which is also an indicator that they are separate businesses.

111. The facts are:

a. There is an advertisement in the Toy Making section of the Yellow Pages for Robert Mullis Rocking Horse Maker.  This does state in smaller print “Restoration and Commissions” but this simply means that the Rocking Horse Maker Business can also arrange for the provision of these services.  At first contact a potential customer would be advised that restoration work would be carried out by RMRS Ltd.  Advertising is expensive and it makes good commercial sense to obtain further exposure for RMRS Ltd services without extra cost.

b. RMRS Ltd has placed its own distinct advertisement in the Yellow Pages which makes it perfectly clear that it is a limited company operating an independent business.  It does refer to the website of the Rocking Horse Maker business to lend credibility to the quality of the work offered but this is a temporary arrangement whilst the RMRS Ltd website is being designed.

c. Each business places its own advertisements in magazines as required.

d. The Rocking Horse Maker business has a website at www.rockinghorsemaker.com which deals only with manufacture of new horses and makes no mention of restoration services.

e. RMRS Ltd registered a domain name at www.restorationservices.co.uk in December 1999 and its website is still at the design stage.

f. The Rocking Horse Maker business places a separate advertisement in the British Toymakers Guild Directory.

112. Where members perform the work of making and restoring as one single business it is normal for them to show this in their advertisements.

113. It should be noted that the Robert Mullis entry makes no mention of restoration services.  A letter from the Guild manager confirms that Robert Mullis has never included restoration services in his directory advertisements.

114. HM Customs and Excise have referred to a website at www.olde-england.com which features information about Robert Mullis and which they claim makes no distinction between manufacture and restoration.  It is of course a fact that Robert Mullis is skilled in both types of work but this does not mean that they are part of the same business.

The people who operate this website contacted Mr Mullis many years ago before the formation of the limited company and offered to feature his horses on their website.  They visited his premises and made various notes about his operations.  What they put on to their website was entirely written by them and Mr Mullis has never seen it.

115. There is a letter of invitation from Olde England Limited in the bundle which makes it quite clear that they are offering to sell products rather than services.

116. Following this an agreement was entered into which confirms that only products manufactured by Mr Mullis were covered by the agreement.  From that day until late October 2002 nothing had been heard from that organisation and Mr Mullis did not realise that they were still promoting his manufacturing business.

117. In October 2002 they advised for the first time that they had obtained two orders for manufacture of horses.  Mr Mullis will now ask them to modify their website either to show the restoration as a separate business operated by RMRS Ltd or to remove restoration from their entry.

118. As the agreement only provided for sales of rocking horses and as Mr Mullis had no control or knowledge of what was put on the Olde England website, it is ridiculous that the Commissioners should argue that this provides evidence that the manufacturing business and the restoration business are one business or are closely linked.

119. With regard to brochures, it is accepted that the original impression of any potential customer seeing the old brochures would be that there was possibly one business carrying out both operations but at the first point of contact they would be advised that restoration work was carried out by RMRS Ltd.

120. The businesses both commenced discussion with Dayfold Plc in January 2002 and obtained quotations for printing a new separate brochure for each business.  However, due to existing stocks of old brochures and the disruption caused by the actions of HM Customs and Excise since then, the new material has not yet been produced.

121. We are considering a question of fact as to whether or not separation is artificial and the public perception cannot be a conclusive factor in this respect.  We would refer to the Tribunal case Robert Wallace T/A Inn House (17109) in which the Tribunal held that the public perception was of little importance when deciding as a matter of fact whether there was more than one business.

122. We would mention that in the course of discussions concerning this case we were sent a copy of booklet 700/61 dated June 1997 by the VAT Office which contains a paragraph on page 4 headed “Artificially separated businesses which maintain the appearance of a single business” which still gives the impression that the public perception is of vital importance except for a truly franchised shop within shop arrangement.  This leaflet seems to ignore the above mentioned Tribunal Decision.

123. (iv)  “Organisational Links – Both businesses occupy common premises.  Both businesses are under the control of Robert Mullis, as the sole proprietor for the manufacturing company and the sole director and owner of 100% of the company shares.  The nature of both businesses is to utilise the skills and craftsmanship of Robert Mullis.”

On the basis already established that 80% of the restoration work is dealt with by subcontractors on their own premises, it is not strictly true that the businesses occupy common premises.

Mrs P A Mullis owns 20% of the share capital of RMRS Ltd.

124. There is an attempt here to try to claim that there is automatically one business if two activities utilise the skills of one person even if they are very different skills as is the case here.

If the two skills involved would normally be utilised in separate and distinct businesses in the commercial marketplace, it cannot be appropriate or logical to argue that there is only one business.  We have already established earlier that manufacture and restoration are activities that are not commonly operated by the same business.

125. In addition we would mention that if only 20% of the restoration work is carried out by Mr Mullis it can hardly be fair to say that the business operates to utilise his skills when most of the turnover is derived from the utilisation of the skills of subcontractors.

126. Factors showing that the limited company is operated as a truly separate business
We summarise below the factors that show that the restoration business is a truly separate business and is not an artificial separation from the activity of Rocking Horse Manufacture:

a. The formation of a limited company is itself a major factor showing the intention to comply with the commercial formality of operating a separate business.  The company must prepare and file statements showing a true and fair view of its profit and state of affairs and there is no evidence to suggest that it has not complied with this legal responsibility.  Mr Robertson produced the accounts of RMRS Ltd for the year ended 31 July 2001 and the accounts of R Mullis for the year ended 30 April 2000.

b. The company has its own banking arrangements as confirmed in the VAT Officer’s report on page 3.

c. Mr Mullis does not draw a salary as most of the work is done by subcontractors.  Any profits are paid out as dividends and 20% of the dividends belong to Mrs Mullis.

d. The company writes up its own exclusive accounting records on a Sage computer programme.

e. Accounts are filed at Companies House and with the Inland Revenue.  The company also files a corporation tax return with the Inland Revenue.

f. The company orders its own materials and they are paid for by company cheque.

g. There is no trading link between the company’s restoration business and that of the manufacturing business.  They use different materials, they do not trade with each other, they have different customers and utilise totally different skills.

h. The company places its own advertisements.

i. The company is arranging its own internet website design.

j. All significant costs of operating the restoration business are borne by the company.

k. The company’s trading operation is different from that carried on by Mr Mullis prior to its incorporation because Mr Mullis did the restoration work himself whereas the company subcontracts 80% of the work to outside specialists.

l. The company’s trade is that of restoration of rocking horses, wooden furniture and toys and to a small extent repairs of these items.  It is normal commercial practice for such a trade to be carried on in isolation.  There is no commercial justification for any suggestion that it is artificially separated from the trade of manufacture of rocking horses.

m. The company has its own separate insurance policy as confirmed in the VAT Officer’s report.

n. The profits of the restoration business belong initially to a separate legal person, being RMRS Ltd and when distributed as dividends only 80% of them become the property of R Mullis whereas he owns 100% of the profits of the sole trader business.

127. Further points that arise from the Statement of Case by the Commissioners
2.3  Mr Mullis denies to the best of his memory that he stated on the telephone that “the business was divided in that as sole proprietor he manufactured rocking horses to order and that the limited company restored old rocking horses, renovated old toys and restored furniture”.  These are words written by the VAT Officer who telephoned Mr Mullis after their discussions.

128. 2.7  This statement is taken from the report of Mr Nex.  It was shown to be erroneous in our response.  We question why erroneous facts are included in the Statement of Case.

129. 2.8  This statement is factual to the extent that VAT was charged at 5% but it then tries to give the misleading impression that the supply is in some way uncommercial being for domestic use.  In fact the Statement of Case is incorrect because the reason why the commercial three phase supply is only charged at 5% is due to Para 2(g) of Schedule A1 to the VAT Act 1994 which deems all supplies to be domestic rated supplies if they do not exceed 1000 Kilowatt Hours per month.

130. 2.9  The gas bill is paid by direct debit from the private bank account.  The bills were available for inspection with all the main accounting records which were held at the Accountant’s office which the Commissioners chose not to inspect.

131. 2.10  We cannot understand the phrase “the records do not permit analysis to the annual accounts”.  The charges in the annual accounts are clearly analysed in the accounting records and these were available for inspection should the Commissioners have wished to do so.

132. 2.12  It was drawn to the attention of the Commissioners that the rocking horse in the Yellow Pages adverts was inserted by Yell Ltd and was not the logo of either business.  One business has a logo which is not that shown in the advert, and the other has no logo.  We question why this erroneous statement has been reproduced in the Statement of Case.

133. 2.13  Mr Mullis does not attend country fetes and shows and does not hand out brochures at such places.  The difficulty arising from the large stock of unused brochures has already been explained.

134. 2.14  It was explained to the Commissioners that when the insurance brokers were instructed to set up the new policy for the limited company they were also requested to amend the insured activities of the sole trader insurance but the insurers failed to amend the policy wording.  The Commissioners seem to think for some inexplicable reason that this is a major factor showing artificiality but it is nothing more than insurance company error.  What purpose would there be in maintaining cover for restoration work when Mr Mullis had ceased to carry on that type of work?

135. 2.15  The facts stated here are correct but are inadequate for the purpose of arriving at the conclusion that the Commissioners have reached that the limited company does not have any significant assets and uses those provided by Mr Mullis.

136. The fixed asset register at 30 April 2000 which was available for inspection, should the Commissioners have requested it, showed the following assets:

a. Workshop £2,380 – erected many years ago and after the formation of RMRS Ltd used mainly for horse manufacture.  The question of rent has been dealt with earlier.

b. Motor car £4,354 – the proportion of business usage by the manufacturing business is charged to that business and all other mileage is initially treated as private.  When journeys are made for the RMRS Ltd business a formal mileage claim is made by Mr Mullis in accordance with normal commercial practice at the Inland Revenue approved rate per mile.  In this manner usage of this asset is properly recharged to RMRS Ltd and refutes the apparent allegation that significant assets are provided free of charge.

c. Plant and Equipment £3,930 – these assets are used almost exclusively for the manufacture of rocking horses.  Restoration work uses mainly hand tools.  Many small inexpensive hand tools are treated as consumables and are written off as part of cost of sales.

An examination of the accounts of RMRS Ltd shows that in 2000 the company spent £434 and in 2001 £417 on such tools.  In 2001 more expensive equipment of £290 was also acquired and capitalised.

Bearing in mind that 80% of the work is subcontracted out these figures represent the real costs of equipment necessary for the 20% of restoration work carried out by Mr Mullis himself as director of the company.  There will have been some use of old hand tools which Mr Mullis acquired personally from the age of 15 years onwards and which were already owned before the start of either of these businesses but they have no book value and no significant market value an the lack of any charge for their use has no material bearing on the case.

The suggestion that R Mullis provides a large amount of capital equipment free of charge to RMRS Ltd for use in the restoration work is simply untrue and appears to stem from a failure of the Commissioners to examine the nature of the work and the register of fixed assets and also to take account of comments and explanations provided to them at the time of their visit.

d. Office Equipment £1,331 – this covers items purchased from 1992 to 2000 which suggests that Mr Mullis looks after equipment and is not obsessed with having the latest item but prefers to get the maximum life out of every asset.  If this equipment lasts a further 4 years on average this represents an annual cost of £283.  The RMRS Ltd business requires far less administration and marketing time than the manufacturing business and a reasonable annual allocation would be 20% of £283 which is £56.

The reason why this is not charged for is simply that the amount involved is not worth the effort.

137. 2.16  This is an attempt to show that the turnover or the sole trader business would have reached £63,871 if the alleged separation had not taken place.  We have already explained why this is false reasoning because the business did not subcontract out restoration work apart from saddlery and the turnover would not have reached this level without the new activity.

138. With regard to the matters relied upon by the Commissioners:
Motive for formation of the company
It is unlikely that R Mullis sole trader would ever have reached the VAT registration limit and this was not therefore the motive.  It is accepted that there is a strong desire not to be registered for VAT because the main competitors are not registered but if a turnover problem had arisen Mr Mullis would simply have cut back a little on his seven day working week.  The real motives were:

a. Setting up a proper restoration business using subcontractors which would provide an income that was not dependent solely upon hours worked by Mr Mullis.  This was important due to the problems expected to arise from the news that Mrs Mullis had been diagnosed with cancer.

b. Eliminating the artificial inclusion of restoration work in the accounts of the manufacturing business.

c. Obtaining the protection of limited liability when using subcontractors to do most of the work.
d. Providing an opportunity for Mrs Mullis to share in the profits of the business.
e. Taking advantage of incentives provided openly by the government to encourage people to trade as limited companies with a low tax regime.

It was not reasonable for the Commissioners to rely upon a VAT avoidance motive because there was no such motive and such a motive is no longer a requirement of the relevant legislation.
139. Advertising Links
The statement is factually incorrect.  RMRS Ltd had not yet finalised its own advertising brochure but discussions had been held prior to the time of the visit by the VAT Officer for the purpose of creating one.  The brochure referred to by the Commissioners is one that was produced long before the formation of RMRS Ltd and does not purport to be a common advertising medium for both businesses.  The problem is that very large stocks were printed and we do not see the refusal to discard the old stock and splash out on new brochures immediately as anything other than commercial commonsense.  Cost control is the most significant survival factor for small businesses.
140. The comment concerning the Yellow Pages is misleading.  Each business has placed its own advertisement.  We see nothing artificial in a business maximising the benefit from an advert by including a service which it can only offer by introduction to another business.  This is common business practice.

When considering advertising it is also misleading to omit a mention of the fact that R Mullis has a website which is devoted entirely to the sale of horses manufactured to order.

It is therefore not reasonable for the Commissioners to place reliance on the advertising arrangements as evidence of the alleged separation of business activities.
141. Interdependence
The contention that RMRS Ltd is dependent upon the R Mullis sole trader business is factually incorrect, unsubstantiated and unsupported by any evidence whatsoever.

RMRS Ltd purchases its own materials which are different in virtually every respect from those used by R Mullis.  It appoints and controls its own subcontractors.  It buys its own hand tools although Mr Mullis may at times make use of some very old hand tools as well that have no cost impact on either business.  It pays a fair share of the electricity and telephone costs.  It pays for its own postage and stationery.  It has its own trade insurance policy.  It places its own adverts in magazines and has its own Yellow Pages advert.  It reimburses Mr Mullis at the approved Inland Revenue rate for any journeys that he makes for its business in his motor car.  It has a totally separate set of accounting records maintained by the company’s accountant who invoices the company’s work directly to the company.
142. In particular, the contention that it does not have any significant assets and uses those of R Mullis is misleading because it does not need many assets and any lack of payment for use of assets would be of trivial amount.
143. The inclusion of “restoration” in the Yellow Pages advert of R Mullis has no significant cost impact on the business of R Mullis and it is misleading to claim that this constitutes significant financial support.
144. Submissions
(1)  The direction by the Commissioners of Customs and Excise was invalid in law because it failed to identify the specific business which was the subject of the direction as required by paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 1 Value Added Tax Act 1994.

(2)  The direction by the Commissioners of Customs and Excise was unreasonable on the grounds that there are two genuinely independent businesses and the creation of the limited company did not result from any separation of business activities but became the vehicle for the operation of a new and distinct business operating in a totally different type of business classification.
145. The independent operation of the limited company is in accordance with normal commercial practice and was effected for normal commercial reasons and bears no hallmarks of artificiality and in particular has no close financial, economic and organisational links other than the link of ownership.

Appendix 2

1. The key element in the legislation which permits the Commissioners of Customs and Excise to issue a direction to register for VAT under paragraph 2 Schedule 1 VAT Act 1994 is that its purpose must be to prevent the maintenance or creation of artificial separation of business activities.  The legislation tells us that when deciding whether or not the carrying on of separate activities is artificial we must have regard to the extent to which the persons carrying on those activities are closely bound to another by financial, economic and organisational links.

This cannot be taken to mean that in every case where separate activities are carried on by persons having close links, the Commissioners have the right to issue a direction to register for VAT.
2. Before issuing a direction the Commissioners are obliged to satisfy themselves that:
(1)  the conditions of Paragraph 2(2) Sch 1 VATA 1994 are fulfilled; and
(2)  there has been a separation of business activities that has either been created or maintained by the operators; and
(3)  most important – the separation must be artificial.
3. There must be thousands of cases where closely connected persons run separate businesses and it must therefore be obvious that the key factor in any decision as to whether a direction to register for VAT can be issued is whether or not that separation is artificial.  We would therefore expect that examination of the concept of artificiality would form a major part of the Commissioners’ business reviews and subsequent Statement of Case.
4. Unregistered Trader – Visit report by Mr R Nex
This is the detailed report upon which the decision was based.  The report attempted to set out the facts and to show that the turnover of the two businesses combined was approaching the registration threshold.  It also attempted to establish the existence of close financial, economic and organisational links.  The report makes no mention whatsoever of the need to establish artificiality in the purported separation and provides no evidence of artificiality.  The report concludes “As financial, organisational and economic links are apparent, both Mr and Mrs Mullis were informed that the issue of a Notice of Direction was appropriate”.
5. It also states:
”Office Conclusions
It is accepted that separation of the activities into two entities is successful but that financial, organisational and economic links exist between the businesses.  Also:
a)  Each entity is making taxable supplies
b)  The activities can properly be regarded as that of a combined taxable person; and
c)  The aggregate taxable turnover of the business activities exceeds the registration threshold.”

On the basis of the above Mr Nex recommended that a Notice of Direction be issued.
6. The statements (a), (b) and (c) appear to be set out to show that the conditions in Paragraph 2(2) Sch 1 VATA 1994 have been considered and are fulfilled.  Item (b) above, however, does not correspond with Para 2(2)(b) which only requires that there are two persons making taxable supplies.
7. The conclusion that Mr Nex made in (b) above that the activities can properly be regarded as that of a combined taxable person is not one that could be reached by a reasonable person based on the information contained in the report.

The only reference to artificiality in the report appears at the top of page 2 where it says “as this seemed a case of potential artificial separation a visit was agreed for 6 June 2002”.
8. When the report proceeds to describe the evidence sought and obtained and the conclusions drawn therefrom it becomes clear that the concept of artificiality was not in fact considered at all.
9. Wolverhampton VAT Office
It is clear from the report and from statements made by Mr Nex under cross examination that his authority did not extend beyond making a recommendation to Wolverhampton VAT Office and that a senior officer who has not been named was authorised to make the final decision to issue the Notice of Direction.
10. The Officer who made the decision did not come forward to give evidence at this hearing and no documentation has been produced to show how that Officer arrived at his or her conclusions that it was appropriate to issue the Notice of Direction.  This is unsatisfactory and suggests that if a review was carried out it was of a cursory nature and placed almost total reliance on the report and conclusions of Mr Nex.
11. Reconsideration by Wolverhampton VAT Office
A reconsideration of the decision was made by Miss Z Allen of the Wolverhampton VAT Office the conclusions from which are set out in her letter dated 29 August 2002.
12. In response to the statement that Mr Nex had not referred to artificiality in his report or attempted to substantiate its existence, Miss Allen stated “In your client’s case it was found that the businesses were so closely linked to each other that the separation was artificial”.
13. The Statement of Case
Having repeated the purported facts which were contained in the report of Mr Nex the Statement of Case says that the Commissioners contend that the separation of the business is artificial.
14. This opinion relies on the following:
(1)  The Restoration Company was formed at a time when the combined turnovers were approaching the limit for VAT registration.
(2)  There was a lack of separation of advertising.
(3)  The Restoration Company could not exist separately without the support of the manufacturing business.
15. The increasing turnover indicates only the reason for the timing of the decision to formalise the existence of the separate business.  It is not a factor in determining whether or not separation is artificial.
16. As already shown, separate advertising arrangements were made but on grounds of economy the transition was not immediate.  Part of the purported facts stated in the report concerning advertising were shown to be inaccurate.
17. It has been established conclusively that the Restoration Company does exist separately and will continue to do so and has never been dependent in any way upon the manufacturing business.
18. It is absolutely impossible to conclude that these matters provide any evidence of artificiality in operating these activities as separate businesses or that in preparing this Statement of Case the Commissioners have made any serious attempt to consider the question.
19. When reviewing the visit report, the reconsideration of the decision and the formal statement of case taken together it becomes clear that the report and the conclusions derived from it give a firm indication that the Commissioners of Customs and Excise have misinterpreted the legislation by assuming that the existence of close links by itself implies artificiality.
20. In the first part of my presentation I did not make specific reference to the inaccuracies found in the report by Mr Nex but as the Commissioners chose to comment in detail on my comments on that report I feel that it is helpful to summarise those matters briefly now which are:
21. The Report stated Mr Mullis said that his business as a sole proprietor supplied services of manufacturing new rocking horses to order.  Mr Mullis has confirmed that he did not make this statement and Miss Allen has rightly confirmed that the manufacture of rocking horses is not a service.  This shows an error in recording accurately statements made by Mr and Mrs Mullis.
22. The Report stated that the Restoration business was “his limited company” when referring to Mr Mullis.  We pointed out that Mrs Mullis also had an interest, but Miss Allen continued to claim that Mr Mullis owned 100% of the shares which was incorrect.  This shows a failure by Mr Nex to obtain and record accurately all relevant facts and also a weakness in review procedures at Wolverhampton VAT Office.
23. The Report stated that the Restoration Company manufactured toys and possibly other objects.  It was pointed out that the company did not manufacture anything at all and the amazing response by Miss Allen was that this services more strenuously to support the link between the two businesses.  It is beyond my comprehension how showing that there was no overlap between the business activities which were totally distinct and separate could provide evidence to support a link between them.  This again shows a failure on the part of Mr Nex to obtain and record accurately statements made to him and it also shows an apparent attempt by Miss Allen to try to claim that evidence existed in support of her decision when in fact it supported the opposite view.
24. The Report stated that John Garland and John Woods were subcontractors.  This was pointed out to be an error of fact.  These are both primarily suppliers of parts although John Woods did also carry out on one or two occasions some restoration work for the company but this was not a regular activity.  Miss Allen was obliged to concede that the report was both inaccurate and incomplete but claimed it had no impact on her decision.  This does, however, once again show a failure by Mr Nex to obtain and record the facts accurately.
25. The Report states that the Restoration Company was formed on the advice of a customer.  This was pointed out to be incorrect.  There was a suggestion by a customer but the advice was provided by me as accountant.  This again shows a failure by Mr Nex to obtain and record all relevant facts.
26. The Report states that Mrs Mullis maintains the accounting records for both businesses in a spreadsheet format and the accountant prepares separate annual accounts.  This was pointed out to be incorrect because the formal accounting records of both businesses are written up in my office using a proper Sage computer accounting program and the files of copy sales invoices and purchase and expense invoices are held there.  The amazing response of Miss Allen to this error of fact was to send me copies of annual financial accounts signed by me.  This shows not only that Mr Nex failed to obtain and record the facts but also that despite my office being only a short distance from the business premises he made no effort whatsoever to discuss any part of the case with me or to inspect the accounting records of either business.  It is difficult to see how someone can attempt to reach conclusions concerning financial, economic and organisational links between two businesses without inspecting the accounting systems and records or discussing such systems with the accountant responsible.  When examined as a witness at this hearing, Mr Nex stated that in his view it was the responsibility of the accountant to contact him if the accountant felt that there were further points to be made.  I submit that this constitutes gross neglect by Mr Nex in compiling this report without bothering to obtain all available evidence.
27. The Report states that one form of advertising is that brochures are handed out at country fetes.  This was an invention on the part of Mr Nex.  Mr and Mrs Mullis have not attended such events for at least ten years.
28. The Report stated, in connection with advertising, that there was a common web page.  This was incorrect – the website referred only to the manufacturing business.  The Report also stated that adverts in the Yellow Pages for each business used a common rocking horse logo.  This was pointed out to Mr and Mrs Mullis by Mr Nex and they advised him that it was not a logo of their businesses.  They showed him the logo of the manufacturing business and they advised him that the restoration business did not have a logo.  Yell Ltd have since confirmed in writing that the horse in the adverts was simply a piece of clip art that they themselves inserted to enhance the adverts.  The inclusion by Mr Nex of information in his report in contradiction to precise facts notified shows either further negligence in recording facts for the report or a blatant attempt to mislead.
28. The Report states that Mr Mullis is the sole director of a limited company supplying services of toy manufacture and restorations.  This repeats two errors referred to earlier that manufacture of toys is not a service and that the limited company does not manufacture toys.
29. The Report states that the limited company’s supplies were once part and parcel of the sole proprietorship.  This statement is not very clear and we are left to assume that what Mr Nex was trying to say was that the type of business being carried on by the limited company was previously being carried on by Mr Mullis as sole proprietor.  If this is indeed the point that Mr Nex was trying to make it is incorrect because when Mr Mullis supplied restoration services he did the work himself whereas when the limited company was formed, as Mr Nex himself acknowledges in his report, 80% of the work was carried out by subcontractors.
30. The Report states that the limited company would not be a realistic operation on its own.  The only argument put forward in support of this is that the name and expertise of Mr Mullis is essential to its operation.  The fact that 80% of the work is carried out by subcontractors shows conclusively that Mr Mullis is not essential to performing the work.  It is true that the manufacturing business probably serves to introduce some of the business but as the company has low overheads and no permanent employees it could easily survive on a lower turnover.  The fact that the name of Mr Mullis might assist in attracting restoration work does not mean that restoration and manufacture are the same business operation.  It is an illogical conclusion.
31. The Report states that it is obvious that the same subcontract services are used for the manufacturing business as are used for the restoration business.  If Mr Nex had taken the trouble to ascertain the true facts it would have become obvious to him that the contrary was true.  Most of the materials used for manufacture are different from those used for restoration.  The manufacturing business only subcontracts the saddle and leather work whereas the restoration business subcontracts 80% of the detailed restoration services.
32. The Report states that if one of the businesses were to fold it would be easy to absorb its supplies seamlessly into the other.  It has already been shown that each business uses markedly different types of material.  This statement is factually incorrect.
33. The Report states that whilst each business has its own insurance policy that of the manufacturing business covers both manufacture and restoration.  This is not correct because the insurance cover of the manufacturing business ceased to cover restoration work when the company was formed.  Unfortunately the insurance company made a mistake in not removing the words “and restoration” from the policy summary.  Mr Nex appears to have recorded this as a fact in his report without taking the trouble to confirm the position with Mr and Mrs Mullis.
34. The Report states that Mr and Mrs Mullis have no knowledge of the detail of the assets of the business, leaving everything to their accountant.  This is not true because a detailed updated register of these assets is sent to Mr and Mrs Mullis with their annual accounts every year.  If they could not locate their copy it was always open to Mr Nex to ask for one but he neglected to do so.
35. The Report states that all the costs of running the Peugeot Estate Car are borne by the sole proprietorship.  This is factually incorrect.  Only the business proportion of the running costs are borne by the sole proprietorship.
36. The Report states that when using the car on the business of the limited company Mr Mullis pays himself a mileage allowance.  This is not correct.  Mr Mullis makes a mileage claim based on an agreed amount of pence per mile and the company reimburses this to him.
37. In conclusion, this amounts to seventeen significant factual errors in a short six page report and clear evidence of a failure to seek all relevant evidence including that held by the accountant of the business or to discuss any matters of concern with him.
38. A few minor inaccuracies in the fact finding process would not normally suffice to conclude that the Commissioners could not reasonably have reached the decision that they did reach but when there are so many errors and omissions in the fact finding report as exist in this case there is a strong argument that the appeal must be allowed because the decision made by the unidentified VAT Officer at Wolverhampton VAT Office was based on a seriously flawed report.
39. Cross Examination of Mrs Mullis
During the cross examination of Mrs Mullis the Respondents asked if salaries were being drawn from the limited company and were advised that profits were drawn by way of dividends.  The Respondents then made a distinct point by way of leading question that no National Insurance was payable on dividends.  The purpose of this questioning was to try to give the Tribunal the impression that Mr and Mrs Mullis were the type of people that would take artificial steps to avoid paying taxes.
40. It was confirmed in the long standing Duke of Westminster case that any person has the right to organise his affairs with a view to minimising his tax liabilities.  Tax avoidance is not illegal, nor is it immoral except perhaps in cases of extreme artificiality.  The mere selection of one form of legal business entity in preference to others could never be described as an act of extreme artificiality.
41. In fact the inference by the Respondents that Mr and Mrs Mullis should draw salaries from the company and pay National Insurance on them does not follow logically from the original purpose of setting up the company which was so that they could operate a business using subcontractors to carry out the detailed work with little personal involvement by Mr Mullis who expected to have to spend much of his time nursing his sick wife.  The company was therefore in the nature of an investment to Mr and Mrs Mullis rather than being a vehicle to exploit the personal services of Mr Mullis and, therefore, the most logical commercial form of reward was by way of dividend.
42. The Examination of Mr Nex
Prior to the hearing of this appeal the Respondents were asked to provide details of any Tribunal decisions upon which they were particularly relying for their decision and also if there were any precedents established in the Courts.  The response from Mr Bettoney who is the representative of the Respondents at this hearing was to supply four Tribunal decision reports without any comment as to their relevance and also to state that he could find nothing at High Court of any relevance.
43. It was disturbing to find that under examination, Mr Nex stated that the Commissioners were relying on the High Court case of Burrell as the basis for their decision.  The Respondents were unable to produce a report of that case at the first part of this hearing or to give any detailed information concerning it.
44. I have now been supplied with a report of Burrell (t/a The Firm) v Commissioners of Customs and Excise heard in the High Court in 1997.  It would appear that Mr Bettoney was unaware of this case but having read the report I find myself in agreement with his statement that there is nothing of relevance at High Court.
45. The Burrell case was not concerned with a direction to register for VAT – it was an appeal against assessments to VAT issued for past years on the grounds that the health club “The Firm” and the aerobics activities “The Studio” were at all times one business.  The Appellants contended that “The Studio” was a separate business run as a partnership between Richard Burrell and his father.
46. The primary function of the Tribunal was therefore to set out all the facts showing those that suggested the existence of a partnership and those that suggested the opposite and they concluded that taking all the facts together, “The Studio” was not operated as a partnership between Mr Burrell and his father.
47. The High Court confirmed that the conclusion reached by the Tribunal was one which they could reasonably have reached based on the facts found by them.  The Court also agreed that the Tribunal should examine the substance and reality and should only conclude that there are separate taxable entities if (1) the so called separate businesses are sufficiently at arm’s length each from the other, and (2) the businesses have normal commercial relationships each with the other.
48. It is pertinent to note that the word “artificial” which is a crucial factor in the present case does not appear at all in the report of the Burrell case.

The objective of the Tribunal in the Burrell case was to determine whether or not a separate business existed but in the present case the Commissioners have formally accepted that the Restoration Company is in fact a distinct and separate business.  The Burrell case did not examine or conclude the question of whether a business was separated artificially from another.
49. From the examination of this case report and from the statement by Mr Nex that this was the case that the Commissioners were relying upon when reaching their decision to issue a Notice of Direction to Register, we can conclude that when Mr Nex made his recommendation and request to Wolverhampton VAT Office that Notices of Direction be issued in this case it was based on a serious misunderstanding of the law.
50. When Mr Nex stated under examination “we are relying on the Burrell case”, it is reasonable to assume that reliance on this case decision was notified to him as official policy of the Wolverhampton VAT Office.  No evidence has been supplied of the nature of any detailed review following this report and we are left to conclude that the Officer who finally made the decision to issue a Notice of Direction to Register also did so under a serious misunderstanding of the law.
51. The cross examination of Mr Nex
Under cross examination the point was made to Mr Nex that he had not addressed the issue of artificiality at all in his report.  Mr Nex advised the Tribunal that the Commissioners considered that where it could be shown that there were strong financial, economic and organisational links between the businesses this of itself proved that the separation was artificial.
52. I have already put forward the arguments to show that even if these links exist it does not necessarily prove the existence of artificial separation – the law only requires us to have regard to them as factors in the decision.
53. I submit that this is another misunderstanding of the law by the Respondents.
54. Final Summary
We submit that the direction issued by the Respondents did not comply with the strict legal requirement to identify a single business but merely listed a number of business activities and may therefore be invalid.
55. We submit that the Respondents have acted unreasonably in neither obtaining nor recording accurately all facts relevant to the matter in question and as a result they could not reasonably have reached the decision that they did because the Officer who made the decision was not provided with accurate information.
56. We submit that the Respondents have failed to justify how they reached their decision on the basis of the report submitted by Mr Nex because the Officer who made that decision did not attend this hearing and has provided no documentary evidence whatsoever as to what were the factors taken from the report of Mr Nex and what relative importance was attached to each.
57. We submit that the Respondents have not only based their decision on incorrect facts but they have also misinterpreted the law.  Reliance appears to have been placed on the Burrell case and yet that case had little or no relevance to this hearing.  The concept of artificiality has been ignored and total reliance placed upon the existence of certain links between the businesses primarily in connection with ownership and premises.  The law requires the creation or maintenance of artificial separation of a business but in this case the company was formed to establish a new restoration business and no actual separation was created or maintained.
58. We submit that artificial separation requires the two businesses to be complementary and examples from earlier Tribunal decisions appear to support this view.  The business of a public house being subdivided into drinks and catering.  The business of a health and fitness club being subdivided into a health club and aerobics club.  The business of a tax accountant being subdivided into accounts preparation and tax return preparation.  The manufacture of new rocking horses and the restoration of old rocking horses are not complementary in this way.  New horses do not require regular maintenance or servicing.  The restoration business has totally different customers and the horses being restored were usually manufactured by someone other than Mr Mullis.
59. We submit that the Respondents have failed to take account of the UK standard industrial classification which makes it quite clear that manufacture is a totally separate category of business from repair and it is impossible to see how a reasonable person could regard them as complementary or their separate operation as artificial.
60. We submit that the Respondents have incorrectly assumed that the authority of the EC 6th Directive to treat as a single taxable person, persons who are closely bound to one another by financial, economic and organisational links has been enacted in the UK without qualification whereas our Parliament has sought protection for genuinely separate businesses by making it a condition that any separation must be artificial.
61. On the basis of the above we submit that the Respondents have reached a decision which no reasonable person could have reached on the true facts and a proper application of the law to those facts.”
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